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DEFINITIONS

GF BE Term Definition
fFEg E Board The board of the Directors
Vi N/NE]! BRBBFEREEAR QA Company Fullsun International Holdings Group Co.,,
Limited
F PAN/NETE=== Director(s) The directors of the Company
BREH BREBERAE - —HRFTE Fusheng Group Fusheng Group Co., Ltd.*, a Company
KB BR AR established in the PRC with limited liability
AEE KRBERENE QT Group The Company and its subsidiaries
aE BRI Hong Kong The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
BIT & HK$/HKD Hong Kong dollars
LEmRAl B2 Fr a8 5 LR Al Listing Rules The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange
RAEST A LIBETAERETELRZSHN Model Code Model Code for Securities Transactions by
1ZAESFH Directors of Listed Issuers
FE/ 0191 A1HZE2019%128318 Year/ 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019
A During the Year
FE hEE AR - ghAREm PRC/Mainland China  The People’s Republic of China, excluding
AR A i TREEE  RFIEFRITT Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative
k&E Region and Taiwan for the purpose of this
report
BT HAfA 018F4A1HZE2018F 128318 Previous Period 1 April 2018 to 31 December 2018
AR®TT ARMTT RMB Renminbi Yuan
785 BH N EFEES) SFO Securities and Futures Ordinance
B 161
Az 5 PN/NEI RS Shares Ordinary shares of the Company
BiE 22 BERBERXSHPBRAR Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ETT EViH usD United States dollars
"L G *Note:
ERBES - For the purpose of this report and unless otherwise specified, the English translation of

K%%%ﬁ FAIN - R EEMKZAHAF N

the name of the companies incorporated in the PRC are used for identification purpose

only.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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STATEMENT TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In 2019, the property market is still subject to relatively stringent controls.
The government has been insisting that “houses are built for people to
live in, not for speculation” and continued the policy of implementing
differential measures to address different situations in different cities.
With performance varying among cities, the property market maintained
reasonable and stable growth.

According to the data of National Bureau of Statistics, the sales data of
the real estate market continued to grow positively in 2019. The sales
of commodity housing amounted to RMB15,972.5 billion for the Year,
representing an increase of 6.5% as compared with 2018, while sales area
of commodity housing amounted to 1,715.58 million sg.m. for the Year,
approximately the same as last year. During the year, the recognised
revenue of the Group was approximately RMB1.6 billion and the
contracted sales during the year reached RMB2.8 billion, both of which
were increased over the year and also reached a record highs.

The development and growth of real estate not only depend on the
industry itself, but also follow the macroeconomic condition. Since 2020,
the economy has been affected by internal and external uncertainties
that have weakened the demand side, on the other hand, funding on
the supply side has also become tight. A meeting of the Political Bureau
of the CPC Central Committee was held at the beginning of this year.
The meeting emphasized that this year is the completion of building a
well-off and fully established society and the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan”.
It is necessary to intensify the adjustment of macro policies, and at the
same time, formulate corresponding policies and measures in response
to the impact of the epidemic situation. It is expected that the relevant
measures will gradually restore the market in the short term and stabilize
the development of the economy and real estate in the long run.
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PROSPECTS

In 2020, the Group will focus on developing our core business. We
will continuously explore projects that hold the potential for business
expansion in the industry. As the Greater Bay Area gradually matures,
we will closely monitor the region and seize business development
opportunities that arise. During the Year, the Group acquired project
Qianlong Bay in Zhongshan City which becomes our first project for
business expansion as in the Greater Bay Area. The Group will also review
the development of the existing projects and consider to adjust the
existing project portfolio from time to time. It aims at improving the
liquidity and facilitating the Group to intensify the acquisitions of projects
with potential. The Group seeks for development opportunities and will
consider to cooperate with peers to participate in projects in high quality
locations. Co-operation not only creates synergies but also improves the
profitability of the Group.

Looking ahead, we will continue to follow closely the government
policies as to explore business opportunities in the mainland China
and Hong Kong property sectors for broadening income streams of
the Group. In the meanwhile, we will direct resources towards raising
the quality of our products so as to bolster the Group’s reputation in
the industry and drive overall business development, with the aim of
delivering better returns to our shareholders.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to all shareholders and employees for supporting the
Group.

Pan Haoran
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2020

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Breakdown of the projects held for development/sales of the Group as at

FR4RLNT 31 December 2019 was as follows:
AEEER"Y BirAREER" HERR
ER e (FHK) & (FHx)  (M&E) RABRRER
Total GFA™
attributable to
Total GFA™ the shareholding  Type of project Expected
Project Location (sq.m.) Interest (sq.m.) (Note) completion year
HEERYS
Changsha City, Hunan Province
B S RLE 4313 100% 4313 R BT
Qianlong Academy Tianxin District Completed
BREER ROE 8,708 100% 8708  CR BET
Qianlong Fine Art Tianxin District Completed
BEEN ROE 8,563 100% 85%3 R BT
Qianlong Premier Mansion Tianxin District Completed
BREHR R 78,655 100% 78655 C/R/A BT
Qian Royal Family Kaifu District Completed
BB FiEE
Qianlong International Kaifu District
—H 12422 100% 12422 C BRT
Phase 1 Completed
- 110987 100% 110987 C/R/A 2019-2020
Phase 2
= 32634 100% 32634 C 2020
Phase 3
e RLE
Xingru Jincheng Tianxin District
= 159,645 51% 81419 CR 2022
Phase 3
BRERSRTL EER 97935 100% 97935 C BRI
Fullsun International Financial Centre  Yuelu District Completed
RAXEILG RLE
Kela Meili Shanzhuang Tianxin District
— 24932 100% 24932 CR B¥RT
Phase 1 Completed
—H 197,288 100% 197,288 CR 2020
Phase 2
=5 90,971 100% 90,971 C/R/A 2021
Phase 3
TABERERA RLE 40,986 100% 40986  C/RIA 2021
Yatai Muyun Road Project Tianxin District
BRERE EBR 168997 100% 168997 C/R/A 2021
Fullsun Emerald Bay Yuelu District

BREBZEREEEGRAE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ(%) BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
BREER" ElrAZEER" HAKE
EH B (FAXK) B (FAx) (W& R EAEH
Total GFA"
attributable to
Total GFA™ the shareholding  Type of project Expected
Project Location (sq. m.) Interest (sq.m.) (Note) completion year
FREEED
Ningde City, Fujian Province
EERREER. KB EnE 117,270 34% 39872 (R 2021
Ningde Fullsun Country Garden Jiaocheng District
+ Tianjiao
LEm
Shanghai City
A BREEERC BRITE 96,445 20% 19289 CR 2019
Qiantan « Fusheng Qianlong Square™  Pudong
New District
HIERED
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province
EBES REER
Fuli Plaza Jiaxing Port District
—H 134330 75% 100748 C/R/A 2020
Phase 1
—H 99,521 75% 74,641 A 2021
Phase 2
BREPLT
Zhongshan City,
Guangdong Province
fam - HRER NEFRER 27,099 100% 2709 (R BET
Fullsun « Qianlong Bay Torch Completed
Development
Zone
)
Hong Kong
R HEeRER far H 3,048 100% 3048 R BRI
No. 6 LaSalle Road Project Ho Man Tin Completed
1,514,749 1,223,507

(1) AEEmE((AzE@EDE)ERTY O
SRR EmAE LA AR ER
8 ()RR REERAE - (i)FHE
RERRBEMENBEETMBER(VIFES -
P E R M B AR SEE AR AR A -

Total GFA represents the sum of (i) gross floor area ("GFA") available
for sale and total leasable GFA for completed properties, (ii) GFA
for properties under development, (iii) GFA for properties held for
future development and (iv) GFA of carparks, ancillary and others.

ek - Note:

CHEm%E C represents commercial
R FEIEE R represents residential
ABERE A represents apartments

0 RIBEEBAAREBEBARE -HAERRES

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
8 ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Details of other properties of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was as
follows:

BELEE EihAREEE? HERRD
ER A= (FHK) B (FAx) (W& HERH
Total GFA®
attributable to
Total GFA® the shareholding  Type of project Category
Project Location (sq.m.) Interest (sq.m.) (Note) of lease
HEERYT
Changsha City, Hunan Province
BRERERDL EER 55817 100% 55817 C P
Fullsun International Financial Centre  Yuelu District Medium
REEEMT
Fuzhou City, Fujian Province
RENGE HEG 241 100% 41 C el
Qianlong Gongguan Minhou County Medium
D
Hong Kong
PEES=H e 6763 100% 6763 C P
Enterprise Square 3 Kowloon Bay Medium
62,821 62,821

2 BEEEBEONCRIVEAHESEZE
EAER A A EERBERGEES &
ERERE AR ERMEA AR o

BisE
C B

FR - AEBERWKAL AR1,59,181,000
T BUBEEM EFA27 1% CGREER AR
1,255,548,0007T ) ° A EFIE L H24.6% (B 1T E
M : 25.5%) °

NAalEA AEREARAFEAARYE136,884,000
TOBEEM - AR%S5120680007T) » R IE
LEETEE (A RBRESITEBLNAREE
BEINE ) EE > ARREAARGRFREL
BRI ARYE72507,0007T GEBEEAR © AR
315,632,0007T) ©

EREARBNAARE1 219 CGBERR - KA
KBAFNAREI60D) - BREERT A ARE
0667 GBAEM : SREERNAREE2839) -

(2)  Total GFA represents the sum of (i) GFA available for sale and total
leasable GFA for completed properties and (ii) GFA of carparks,
ancillary and others.

Note:
C represents commercial

During the Year, the total revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB1,596,181,000, increased by 27.1% as compared to that of the
Previous Period (Previous Period: RMB1,255,548,000).The overall gross
profit margin was approximately 24.6% (Previous Period: 25.5%).

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company achieved
RMB136,884,000 (Previous Period: RMB512,068,000). After deduction
of the effect from non-operating items, i.e. gain arising from change in
fair value of derivative components of convertible bonds, the operating
profit after tax attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB72,507,000 (Previous Period: RMB315,632,000).

The basic earnings per share was RMB1.21 cents (Previous Period: basic
earnings per share RMB4.60 cents). The diluted earnings per share was
RMBO0.66 cents (Previous Period: diluted earnings per share RMB2.83
cents).

EREREZEREEERAR 9
20195 5]



BN WD AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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62,821 F 77K »

BHHE

FR - AEEERAYEEBEHARE282ET
CGBAHRE  HARE279ETT) ©

MAREE 21 ABTTIERT R 2{E A RIER B
A BIDEHBEARERER TEPOEEM

YE 395

FA - WMEHEEWMALAREE,522,963,0007T (3B
AHIR - AR¥1,239,003,0007T) ©

VEBEEWATERERNEBILF - BEHEX
FEEFEFNER - FRERNESHESBER
FE K08 _EF22.9% ©

MERE

AREFHS WAL ARE732180007T (i@ 3 H
Al AR¥16,5450007T) « HEWAEERB Y
¥RV EREESRPOAESCEES = -

FR - BTHHMAOMERGTEENS>EARER
ME - TERmeBELEAODERAEHEER
MARBEEZYEGFEXNARAREBEZEH
ER - REMENAAEBEEDREMERE
EREREWERHANEEEMOGHERKES
FEE A ARB105,707,000C GBI - AR
440,022,0007T) °

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group owned 15 projects under
development and for sale and had a total gross floor area of
approximately 1,514,749 sq.m. with gross floor area attributable to
the Group of approximately 1,223,507 sg.m.. The Group also owned 3
investment properties with gross floor area attributable to the Group of
62,821 sgq.m..

CONTRACTED SALES

During the Year, the Group achieved contracted sales of approximately
RMB2.82 billion (Previous Period: approximately RMB2.79 billion).

Approximately RMB2.14 billion is estimated to be recognised as income in
the coming 12 months upon the time of the actual transfer of the title of
the properties to customers.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, revenue from sales of properties was approximately
RMB1,522,963,000 (Previous Period: RMB1,239,003,000).

The revenue from sales of properties was mainly contributed by
projects of Kela Meili Shanzhuang, Qianlong Royal Family and Qianlong
International. The recognised sales during the Year has significantly
increased by 22.9% as compared to that of the Previous Period.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Rental income for the Year was approximately RMB73,218,000 (Previous
Period: RMB16,545,000). Rental income was mainly contributed by the
premises Fullsun International Financial Centre in Changsha and the
Enterprise Square Three in Hong Kong.

During the Year, certain properties leased out were reclassified from
inventory to investment properties. The major gain amount represents
the difference between the fair value of the properties leased on the date
of the lease compared to the original costs recorded in inventory of such
properties. The net valuation gain from change in fair value of investment
properties and increase in fair value upon transfer from inventory of
properties to investment properties was RMB105,707,000 (Previous
Period: RMB440,022,000).

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED

] O ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATING EXPENSES

During the Year, the selling and distribution expenses was approximately
RMB97,018,000 (Previous Period: RMB43,605,000), the cost-income
ratio calculated as the relevant expenses divided by the revenue for
the Year was 6.08% (Previous Period: 3.47%). During the Year, the
administrative expenses was approximately RMB87,936,000 (Previous
Period: RMB55,206,000), the cost-income ratio calculated as the relevant
expenses divided by the revenue for the Year was 5.51% (Previous Period:
4.40%). The increase in operating expenses was primarily driven by sales
growth during the Year.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs comprised of interest on bank and other borrowings,
interest on convertible bonds, interest on lease liabilities and interest on
contract liabilities and net of capitalised interest relating to properties
under development. The finance costs was approximately RMB99,671,000
for the Year (Previous Period: RMB78,470,000).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

During the Year, income tax expense amounted to approximately
RMB153,553,000 (Previous Period: RMB263,409,000). The decrease in
income tax expense was mainly due to the reduction of provision for
deferred tax in relation to the valuation gains from properties.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year (Previous Period: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCE AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2019, bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB879,478,000 (2018: RMB1,290,224,000), which were
principally denominated in RMB and HKD. The Group had total bank
and other borrowings of approximately RMB4,414,448,000 (2018:
RMB4,326,419,000) which carried interest at fixed or floating interest rates
and were denominated in RMB, HKD and USD. The Group's total bank
and other borrowings divided by total assets as at 31 December 2019
was 31.8% (2018: 37.1%). The Group had carrying amounts of convertible
bonds and its derivative components of approximately RMB23,400,000
(2018: RMB93,089,000). The carrying amounts of convertible bonds and
its derivative components divided by total assets as at 31 December
2019 was 0.2% (2018: 0.8%). The net gearing ratio calculated as total
borrowings including the debt component of the convertible bonds net
of bank balances and cash and restricted bank deposits divided by total
equity of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was 122.6% (2018: 164.8%).

EREREZEREEERAR 1 1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCE AND
GEARING RATIO (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB11,075,750,000 (2018: RMB9,482,426,000) and current liabilities
of approximately RMB9,379,695,000 (2018: RMB6,240,841,000). The
net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB2,851,181,000 (2018: RMB1,781,393,000) increased by approximately
60.1%.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s principal business operations and investments are in
mainland China and Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2019, all outstanding
balances of its loans are denominated in RMB, USD and HKD. The Group
is exposed to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates of the RMB, USD
and HKD, but does not have any instruments to hedge its exposure to
foreign exchange rates as it considers the potential exposure to foreign
exchange rate risks is limited. The Group nonetheless closely monitors the
fluctuations in exchange rates and will take appropriate actions to reduce
the exchange rate exposure.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business, financial conditions or results of operations are
affected by a number of key risks and uncertainties outlined below. There
may be other risks or uncertainties, including those which are not known
to the Group or which the Group currently deems to be immaterial but
may affect the Group in future.

The majority of the Group's assets are located in the PRC, and the
majority of the Group's revenue is derived from the PRC. As a result, the
Group is subject to extensive government regulations in most aspects
of its operations and is highly susceptible to changes in the regulatory
environment in the PRC. Those regulations may have a significant impact
on the Group's business, operating results and financial condition.

The Group's business also exposes to market risk (including interest rate
and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk which are directly
related to the economic condition of the PRC and the global economy.
An analysis of the Group's financial risk management is provided in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The pledge of assets and contingent liabilities of the Group are disclosed
in the notes 39 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements in this
Annual Report.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER COMMITMENTS

The other commitments of the Group is disclosed in the note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

The number of issued Shares as at 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019
were 11,351,749,796 and 11,365,386,067 Shares respectively.

CB PLACING ON 1 DECEMBER 2017 AND CONVERSION

Pursuant to the placing agreement entered into between the Company
and the placing agent on 20 October 2017, convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 (equivalent to RMB169,353,000) at
the rate of 9% per annum and conversion price at HK$0.22 per Shares
were issued to various convertible bonds holders on 1 December 2017.
During the Year, convertible bonds with principal amount in aggregate
of HK$3,000,000 (equivalent to RMB2,697,000) were converted into
13,636,271 conversion shares (“Conversion Shares”). Such Conversion
Shares were issued and allotted on 22 August 2019. The principal of the
convertible bonds outstanding as at 31 December 2019 is HK$27,000,000.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENTS

CAPITAL INJECTION IN THE PROJECT COMPANY OF
XINRU JINCHENG

In March 2019, the registered capital of the project company of Xinru
Jincheng in Hunan, namely Hunan Xingru Cheng Property Development
Co., Ltd.* (the "Project Company”), increased from RMB50,000,000 to
RMB1,020,000,000, by way of capital injection by the Group and AVIC
Trust Co., Ltd.* ("AVIC Trust”) in cash for the future development and
construction of phase Ill of the project. Upon completion of such capital
injection, the equity interest of the Project Company owned by the Group
reduced from 100% to 51%, and the registered capital in the Project
Company is currently registered as to 51% and 49% in the name under
the Group and AVIC Trust respectively.

Details of the capital injection were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 8 March 2019.
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ACQUISITION OF FULLSUN - QIANLONG BAY
PROPERTY PROJECT, GUANGDONG PROVINCE

In September 2019, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Zhongshan Zhengpei Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongshan
Zhengpei”) and its shareholder’s loan at consideration of approximately
RMB150,000,000. The principal asset of Zhongshan Zhengpei is a
property project, namely Fullsun « Qianlong Bay* under development
located beside Zhongshan Port, Zhongshan Torch Development Zone*,
Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC.

Since Guangzhou Fusheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (the "Vendor”), the
Vendor, is an indirect 88% owned subsidiary of Fusheng Group which
is owned as to 90% by Mr. Pan Weiming and as to 10% by Ms. Chen
Weihong, both of whom have been executive Directors within 12 months
before the date of the relevant equity transfer agreement. Therefore,
the Vendor is an associate of connected persons of the Company.
Accordingly, the acquisition constituted a connected transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 September 2019.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 240 employees,
including the Directors. Remuneration of employees is determined by
reference to the market terms and commensurate with the level of pay
for similar positions within the industry. Discretionary year-end bonuses
are payable to employees based on individual performance. The Group
provides benefits in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.
The employees of the Group in the Mainland China are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government
of the PRC, and the employees in Hong Kong are members of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of events after the Reporting Period are set out in the note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details and
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 46 to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activities
of the Group are development and sale of properties and property
investment in the PRC including Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results and the cash flows of the Group for the Year and the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 66 of this Annual
Report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018.
The Board shall consider the following factors before recommending or
declaring dividends.

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;

interests of shareholders;

any restrictions on payment of dividends under the applicable laws,
the relevant regulations and the Company’s Bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws"); and

other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion of the business review of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

The principal properties owned by the Group as at 31 December 2019 are
set out on pages 7 to 9 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER LOANS

Details of bank loans and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details relating to the interest capitalised by the Group during the Year
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the movements in the Company'’s reserves during the Year are
set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2019, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB1,454,041,000 (31 December 2018: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No donation for charitable purposes were made by the Group during the
Year (Previous Period: RMB Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the five largest customers of the Group together
accounted for approximately 1.5% (Previous Period: 9.5%), with the
largest customer accounted for approximately 0.6% (Previous Period:
5.8%) of the Group's total revenue. The five largest suppliers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 57.6% (Previous Period: 11.8%),
with the largest supplier accounted for approximately 27.3% (Previous
Period: 5.9%) of the Group's total purchases during the Year.

The third largest supplier, Fujian Liujian Group Co., Ltd, is indirectly owned
as to 51% by Fusheng Group. Fusheng Group is owned as to 90% by Mr.
Pan Weiming and as to 10% by Ms. Chen Weihong (being ex-Directors
of the Company who resigned on 7 September 2019 and 3 September
2019 respectively). Save as disclosed above, to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, at no time during the Year did a Director, an associate of a
Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the exercise of any pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-laws, or there was no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in
note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial periods is set out on pages 195 to 196 of this Annual
Report.
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EEREEHRBEN DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

REAFENEERFRAH  EFF5 The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report
were:

HITES EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

EER A Mr. Pan Haoran®

BIRRA(TTEAAE) Mr. Tong Wentao (Chief Executive Officer)

FEREE A Mr. Li Jinrong

RO B4t o A Mr. Tang Kwok Hung

FR{ZAT 22 L+ Ms. Chen Weihong*

EEAR ST Mr. Pan Weiming?

& R 5 e Mr. Pan Jungang##

RAGHT ZrLww Ms. Wu Jihong###

RS Mr. Wu Yang##

BYFHITES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

REWE L L FHL Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles, J.P.

FERB LT Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon

BN EE A Mr. Yang Xiaoping

RB LA Mr. Yuen Chee Lap, Carl

o MR2019F9 A3 HEZR (T s appointed on 3 September 2019

# R2019F9 A3HEHE i resigned on 3 September 2019

o 201989 A7H BT #  resigned on 7 September 2019

e FA20209E3 H12H BT i resigned on 12 March 2020

RIBAFIMBIESE AR EEESLTER Pursuant to Bye-law 83, any Director appointed by the Board to fill

RN EENTHEEREZEENE a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of

KRR ARE AL MEERZAS EEESBT - members after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such

MEEECLZTARAEETENHIEKENT meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to

MEENTHEEEARRA TERRBFRE A the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual

IF - BRBREERERET - general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

RIBE AR MMBIES3E  FBIEARLEERH/RET - BFF In accordance with Bye-law 83, Mr. Pan Haoran shall retire from office and,
AERUTEERERERRBFERS FHIEET - being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

] 8 FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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Pursuant to Bye-law 84, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years. As such, Dr. Cheung Wai
Bun, Charles, J.P., Mr. Yang Xiaoping and Mr. Yuen Chee Lap, Carl will retire
from office by rotation. Mr. Yang Xiaoping has notified the Company that
he would like to devote more time to his other business commitments
and engagements. For this reason, he will not offer himself for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting while Dr. Cheung and
Mr. Yuen, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 33 to 37 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”, no transactions,
arrangements or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or a supervisor or his/her connected entities had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”,
at no time during the Year was the Company or its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report, there is
permitted indemnity provision (within the meaning in Section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) being
in force. The Company has maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance throughout the Year, which provides appropriate cover certain
legal actions brought against its directors and officers arising out of
corporate activities.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 24 October 2017, Mr. Pan Weiming (“Mr. Pan WM") (being an
executive Director and beneficial owner of the controlling shareholder
of the Company during the year up to 7 September 2019) and Tongda
Enterprises Limited (“Tongda”) (the controlling shareholder of the
Company) entered into the deed of non-competition ("“Deed of Non-
competition”) in favour of the Company.

Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, among other things, Mr. Pan
WM and Tongda will not, and will procure that his/its close associates
(other than any members of the Group) not to, following the completion
of Very Substantial Acquisition and during the Non-Compete Period (as
defined in the circular of the Company dated 27 October 2017), other
than the Excluded Projects (as defined in the circular of the Company
dated 27 October 2017), directly or indirectly, either on its/his own
account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or
company, own, invest in, carry on, participate in, develop, operate or
be interested or engaged in or acquire or hold (in each case whether
as a shareholder, director, partner, agent, employee, or otherwise, and
whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any activity or business which is
or may be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the existing principal
business of the Group. Details of the Deed of Non-competition were set
out in the section headed “Relationship with the controlling shareholders
— 3. Non — competition Undertakings” in the circular of the Company
dated 27 October 2017. As from 7 September 2019, the Deed of Non-
competition no longer applies to Mr. Pan WM upon him ceasing to hold
or control any shares in the Company.

Mr. Pan WM and Tongda confirmed to the Company that each of
them has complied with his/its undertakings under the Deed of Non-
competition and the disclosure of details of his/its compliance with and
the enforcement of the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of
Non-competition is consistent with the relevant requirements under the
Listing Rules.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED

2 O ANNUAL REPORT 2019



EENHEFRBENER

WAFERBEAFREE B LAFRBEES
5 BAREEENERS  EFARIEEN
SRR A (E# R ) S m A NE E
B RE E AR EE BB F LT LAERFNE
RES TR

EEEH

RAFE - NABWERT LK FEEREREE
EBHEMERIDXBNEERITHRAL
BEXS
HEXZNFBHENOAFRE 4R [WEER

BrER - REENYEIAR |- - ROANFRE
5E [fEimERE LT —B -

KEBERS

1R E R RIRIETE - AN B R AT
BEMER S REMT -

EEEWmE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report, save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors, nor their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is considered to have any
interest in a business apart from the business operated by the Group
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions are set out in the (i) paragraph
headed "Acquisition of Fullsun - Qianlong Bay Property Project,
Guangdong Province” on page 14 of this Annual Report; and (ii)
paragraph headed “Deruida Financing Arrangement” on page 25 of this
Annual Report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to requirements of the Listing Rules, the continuing connected
transactions conducted by the Group during the Year are disclosed
below.
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FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group is principally engaged in property development in the PRC and
requires external funding in its business operations. In addition to bank
loans, the Group has obtained other financing with repurchase obligation
from lenders which are generally trust companies or other financial
institutions in the PRC. Such other financing with repurchase obligation is
an alternative source of funds for property developers in the PRC and are
available to borrowers in various forms, including equity transfers, capital
injections, equity acquisition, shareholder loans, or secured entrusted
loans.

1. HUNAN FULLSUN FINANCING ARRANGEMENT

Pursuant to a financing arrangement entered into between Daye
Trust Co,, Ltd ("Daye Trust”) (a connected person of the Company
at the subsidiary level) and Hunan Fullsun Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.* ("Hunan Fullsun”) on 22 December 2016, a maximum
amount of available financing of RMB500,000,000 (the “Hunan
Fullsun Financing Arrangement”) was provided by Daye Trust to
Hunan Fullsun for a term not exceeding 48 months, comprising
an initial term of 24 months and a further term of 24 months (such
further term of 24 months was confirmed by way of a consent letter
dated 20 December 2018 given by Daye Trust to Hunan Fullsun).
The interest rate was 9% per annum for the first year and 10% per
annum for each subsequent year.

To secure the performance and payment obligations of Hunan
Fullsun in respect of the Hunan Fullsun Financing Arrangement,
49% equity interest in Hunan Fullsun was transferred by Hunan
Fullsun Group Co., Ltd.* ("Hunan Fullsun Group”) to Daye Trust to
be held as collateral to secure the repayment obligation of Hunan
Fullsun and the following has been provided to Daye Trust as
security for the repayment obligations of Hunan Fullsun, including
(i) a pledge of 51% of the equity interest in Hunan Fullsun provided
by Hunan Fullsun Group; and (ii) a mortgage over the land use
rights of four parcels of land located in Hunan Province together
with the buildings and constructions erected thereon provided by
Hunan Fullsun. Daye Trust is obliged under the terms of the Hunan
Fullsun Financing Arrangement to transfer back to the Group such
equity interests in Hunan Fullsun upon its repayment of the agreed
amounts, comprising the principal and the fixed income return. The
interest expenses to Daye Trust in relation to the Hunan Fullsun
Financing Arrangement during the Year was RMB7,998,000.

Details of the transactions were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 27 October 2017 and the announcements of the
Company dated 1 December 2017 and 20 December 2018.
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XINGRU FINANCING ARRANGEMENT

Pursuant to a financing arrangement entered into between Daye
Trust and Hunan Xingru Cheng Property Development Co., Ltd.*
("Hunan Xingru”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, on
26 November 2016, a maximum amount of available financing
of approximately RMB690,000,000 (the “Xingru Financing
Arrangement”) was provided by Daye Trust to Hunan Xingru for a
term of two years, renewable with the consent of Daye Trust. The
interest rate was 8.5% per annum for the first year and 10% per
annum for the second year.

Changsha Qiantai Property Development Co., Ltd.*, the previous
owner of Hunan Xingru had transferred 49% equity interest in
Hunan Xingru to Daye Trust as collateral to secure the repayment
obligations of Hunan Xingru under the financing arrangement
and the following has been provided to Daye Trust as security for
the repayment obligations of Hunan Xingru, including (i) a pledge
of 51% of the equity interest in Hunan Xingru provided by Hunan
Fullsun Group; and (i) a mortgage over the land use rights of the
lands of the property project of Hunan Xingru with a total area of
approximately 66,000 square meters located in Hunan province
provided by Hunan Xingru. Daye Trust is obliged under the terms
of the financing arrangement to release and transfer to the Group
such equity interests in Hunan Xingru upon its repayment of the
agreed amounts, comprising the principal of the loan and the fixed
income return. The interest expenses to Daye Trust in relation to
the Xingru Financing Arrangement for the period from 1 January
2019 to 20 February 2019 was RMB2,851,000.

Following the settlement in full by Hunan Xingru of all repayment
obligations under the Xingru Financing Arrangement, the
continuing connected transaction of the Company constituted
by the Xingru Financing Arrangement ceased to subsist on 20
February 2019

Details of the transactions were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 12 February 2018, 14 March 2018, 28 March
2018 and 20 February 2019

EREREZEREEERAR 23
20195 5]



.

=

GRS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

24

ERBMEZH

BB A Z T E AR B8 E W B A 54
MERBEERERAF(HEEZ DR
201659 A21 HFsI B E 2 8E - RS
SRR IE 2 R &% A R 900,000,000
THRE( EE2RELHE]) - BEMT -
AEAXEARETEE BFFNEE
85E  F_FFFEKEISE - KEE
BRI R IE 272018510 831 HE] MM T
FoOBY (EheR) KEETREE
EEEMHEARES500,00000THEE - &
F R & B AR #200,000,0007T M A R #
300,000,0007C 7B 53 R 20194 10 H20H K&
2020F4 208 EE - WHARFFE1N%ET
B o

WMHEERAHEARD EHFHERES
FRABIHE R E249% M EEE T A EE
HOEAREBENEEZBITEEMELRH
HTEREANERS - WERREHE
FEMNEEEARMAEGTRBEUATE
e (VEEREEMRERNEEE
Z51% MR © RNV ANEEBEE
49348000 F KK HRIEESWEBEMN L
M AREERE EYMEMNILE - BRIERE
ZHEMER  REETBEENMELESR
EEHESHE(RELS RETERARR)
5 1% B B8 m SR L IR RE AR B K 82 Bl TR
BREE - 52019F 1 H1B#ZE2019F2A
26R I ERMEL ST T ARESE
FERF B A AR KE3,398,0007T °

RHEERBREELERELTHETY
FTEERERE  EE2MATHEMBRLN
NARFHEBELIHER2019F2A268 T
BIFE -

RGHFBEHNART BEA218F6H19
H - 201856 H28H ~ 2018108318 &
2019%F2 A26 HEY A -

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

ZHENGHAO FINANCING ARRANGEMENT

Pursuant to a financing arrangement entered into between Daye
Trust and Hunan Zhenghao Property Development Co., Ltd.*
("Hunan Zhenghao”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, on
21 September 2016, a maximum amount of available financing
of approximately RMB900,000,000 (the “Zhenghao Financing
Arrangement”) was provided by Daye Trust to Hunan Zhenghao
for a term of two years, renewable with the consent of Daye Trust.
The interest rate was 8.5% per annum for the first year and 9.5%
per annum for the second year. Daye Trust and Hunan Zhenghao
entered into a supplemental agreement on 31 October 2018,
pursuant to which, among others, financing of RMB500,000,000
was provided by Daye Trust to Hunan Zhenghao, whereby
RMB200,000,000 and RMB300,000,000 of such financing amount
shall be repaid on 20 October 2019 and 20 April 2020 respectively
and shall bear interest at a rate of 11% per annum.

Changsha Hongya Property Development Co., Ltd.*, the previous
owner of Hunan Zhenghao had, transferred 49% equity interest
in Hunan Zhenghao to Daye Trust as collateral to secure the
repayment obligations of Hunan Zhenghao under the Zhenghao
Financing Arrangement, and the following has been provided to
Daye Trust as security for the repayment obligations of Hunan
Zhenghao, including (i) a pledge of 51% of the equity interest in
Hunan Zhenghao provided by Hunan Fullsun Group; and (ii) a
mortgage over the land use rights of the property project of Hunan
Zhenghao with a total area of approximately of 348,000 square
meters together with the properties erected thereon in Hunan
province. Daye Trust is obliged under the terms of the financing
arrangement to release and transfer back to Hunan Fullsun Group
such equity interests in Hunan Zhenghao upon its repayment of
the agreed amounts, comprising the principal and the fixed income
return. The interest expenses to Daye Trust in relation to the
Zhenghao Financing Arrangement for the period from 1 January
2019 to 26 February 2019 was RMB3,398,000.

Following the repayment settlement in full by Hunan Zhenghao
of all repayment obligations under the Zhenghao Financing
Arrangement, the continuing connected transaction of the
Company constituted by the Zhenghao Financing Arrangement
ceased to subsist on 26 February 2019.

Details of the transactions were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 19 June 2018, 28 June 2018, 31 October 2018
and 26 February 2019.
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DERUIDA FINANCING ARRANGEMENT

Pursuant to a financing arrangement entered into between Fuzhou
Kangan Lixin Investment Co., Ltd.* ("Fuzhou Kangan”), an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, and Sichuan Trust Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan
Trust”) (@ connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level)
on 3 August 2018 (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement
entered into on 26 September 2018 among Fuzhou Kangan,
Sichuan Trust and Hunan Deruida Property Development Co,,
Ltd.* ("Hunan Deruida”), a maximum amount of available financing
of RMB900 million (the “Deruida Financing Arrangement”) was
provided to Fuzhou Kangan by way of injection into Hunan Deruida
as capital reserve for a term ranging from 12 to 24 months. The
interest rate is 12.1% to 13.2% per annum.

Fuzhou Kangan had transferred 49% equity interest in Hunan
Deruida to Sichuan Trust by way of security as collateral for the
repayment obligations of Hunan Deruida in respect of the Deruida
Financing Arrangement, and the following has been given in
favour of Sichuan Trust as security for the repayment of the
Deruida Financing Arrangement and other obligations of Hunan
Deruida, including (i) a charge of 51% of the equity interest in
Hunan Deruida provided by Fuzhou Kangan; and (i) a pledge of
the land use rights of the land owned by Hunan Deruida in Hunan
province. Sichuan Trust is obliged under the terms of the financing
arrangement to transfer to the Group such equity interests in
Hunan Deruida upon its repayment of the agreed amounts,
comprising the principal and the interest. The interest expenses to
Sichuan Trust for the period from 1 January 2019 to 30 September
2019 was RMB33,196,000.

Following the repayment in full by Hunan Deruida of all repayment
obligations under the Deruida Financing Arrangement, the
continuing connected transaction of the Company constituted
by the Deruida Financing Arrangement ceased to subsist on 30
September 2019. All collateral and security given in favour of
Sichuan Trust were discharged and released on 30 September 2019
in accordance with terms of the Deruida Financing Arrangement,
including, among others, the re-transfer (the “Re-transfer”) of the
49% equity interest in Hunan Deruida by Sichuan Trust to Fuzhou
Kangan at nil monetary consideration.

As Sichuan Trust was immediately before the Re-transfer a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level, the
Re-transfer constitutes a connected transaction for the Company.
Given that the Re-transfer is essentially the release of the 49%
equity interest in Hunan Deruida which was transferred to Sichuan
Trust as collateral for the repayment of the loan, the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that
the Re-Transfer is fair and reasonable, are on normal commercial
terms or better but not in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group and are in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Details of the transactions were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 25 July 2018, 21 August 2018, 26 September
2018 and 30 September 2019.
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PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION WORKS

On 22 October 2018, Fuzhou Fullsun Group Co., Ltd.* entered into a
master construction agreement with Fujian Liujian Group Co., Ltd.*
("Fujian Liujian Group”) in relation to the provision of the pile foundation
engineering, earthwork and structural supporting engineering,
construction works and other relevant services (“Construction Works") to
the Group by Fujian Liujian Group for the projects for a term commencing
from 1 September 2018 to 31 December 2020 (both dates inclusive) (the
“Master Construction Agreement”).

Fusheng Group indirectly held 51% equity interest in Fujuan Liujian
Group. Fusheng Group is owned as to 90% by Mr. Pan WM and as to 10%
by Ms. Chen Weihong. Therefore, Fujian Liujian Group is a close associate
of Mr. Pan WM and a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Master Construction Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the approval obtained at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 5 December 2018, the proposed caps for the provision
of the Construction Works under the Master Construction Agreement for
the four months ended 31 December 2018 and the two years ending 31
December 2020 were RMB150 million, RMB1,500 million and RMB1,500
million respectively.

During the Year, Fujian Liujian Group provided Construction Works to the
Group amounted to approximately RMB308,809,000.

Details of the transactions were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 6 September 2018, 22 October 2018 and 5 December
2018 and the circular of the Company dated 19 November 2018.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that the transactions have been entered into:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  onnormal commercial terms; and

(3)  according to the agreements governing them on terms which are

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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The Company'’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The balance with Fujian Liujian Group as at 31 December 2019 and the
guarantee as provided by Mr. Pan WM, Ms. Chen Weihong, Fusheng
Group, Fujian Fusheng Group and Tongda as at 31 December 2019, as
disclosed in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements, constituted
continuing connected transactions and are fully exempted under Rule
14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save for the transactions disclosed above, all applicable percentage
ratios of other continuing connected transactions which took place
during the Year are lower than 5% and the total consideration is less
than HK$3,000,000, and are therefore fully exempted from independent
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the
connected transaction and the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the following Directors or chief executives of
the Company or his associates had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or
as recorded in the register to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"), were as follows:

HRRAERITRAN

3 L RER

EEME CiEa) (H&E2)
Approximate percentage of

Total the Company’s issued

chief executive Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) share capital (Note 2)
RERLE REEHEENER NEER 6,416,140,000 (1) 56.45%
Mr. Pan Haoran Interest of controlled Corporate interest GES)

corporation (Note 3)

=
o
i

1. (IR, RERD TR -

2. 201912 431 BB B1TIR1 48 %011,365,386,067 1%
RYEEBIANB G -

3. 6,416,140,000M 10 RIBIEHS - BEHRRTESE
SEREAEREERE - At - BERTEWRARBE
EMFARZKE RGP HEEERS -

Notes:
1. (L) represents long position in Shares/underlying Shares.

2. The total number of 11,365,386,067 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2019 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

3. 6,416,140,000 Shares are owned by Tongda which is wholly owned by Mr.
Pan Haoran, an executive Director. As such, Mr. Pan Haoran is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Tongda.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
as follows:

(ERN|
2 BITRAK
et BABESH
=18 4 (PfF&ET) (PffEE2)
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Total issued share
Name Capacity (Note 1) capital (Note 2)
iz BEREAA 6,416,140,000(L) 56.45%
Tongda Beneficial owner
B R (FI5E3) f B 6,416,140,000(L) 56.45%
Zheng Jiaying (Note 3) Interest of spouse
Dragons 215 Limited Em#BA 590,000,000(L) 5.19%
Dragons 215 Limited Beneficial owner
DCP China Credit Fund I, L.P. REEGDER RS 590,000,000(L) 5.19%
DCP China Credit Fund |, L.P. Interest in controlled corporation
Dignari Capital Partners GP Limited RS2 #HABRELS 590,000,000(L) 5.19%
Dignari Capital Partners GP Limited  Interest in controlled corporation
BREE (PiT5E4) RREGDER RS 590,000,000(L) 5.19%

Tan Mei Zie Grace (Note 4)

MaE
1. (LRI, HERER D BEFE -

Interest in controlled corporation

Notes:

2. 2019512 A31 B E BT % £ 2011,365,386,067 %
REHEBABE DT -

3. BRert  BEREENER  HEAREER
S RBEMFSAREE RO S ER -

4. 590,000,000 A% % 5 £ Dragons 215 Limited ¥ A& * 1M
Dragons 215 Limited EADCP China Credit Fund |, LP. &
A ¥ M DCP China Credit Fund |, L.P. F Dignari
Capital Partners GP Limited % ] - FRE 2 Z L% %
Dignari Capital Partners GP Limited#799% ° F It » &R
2 LR AR 590,000,0008 Bk 15 R B #E RS

1. (L) represents long position in Shares/underlying Shares.

2. The total number of 11,365,386,067 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2019 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

3. Ms. Zheng Jiaying, being the spouse of Mr. Pan Haoran, is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Mr. Pan Haoran and Tongda.

4. 590,000,000 Shares are owned by Dragons 215 Limited which is wholly owned
by DCP China Credit Fund I, L.P. which is in turn controlled by Dignari Capital
Partners GP Limited. Dignari Capital Partners GP Limited is owned as to 99% by
Ms. Tan Mei Zie Grace. As such, Ms. Tan Mei Zie Grace is deemed to be interested
in 590,000,000 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2019.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 1 December 2017, convertible bonds (“CB") with principal amount
of HK$200,000,000 (equivalent to RMB169,353,000) at the rate of 9% per
annum were issued to the CB placees. The net proceeds from the issued
CB was approximately HK$199,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB168,506,000).

Details of the CB are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements of this Annual Report and section headed “Share Capital” of
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” respectively.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme were set out in the paragraph
headed “H. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IX Statutory and general
information to the circular of the Company dated 27 October 2017 and
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

The total number of share option that could be granted was
1,123,674,979 shares at par value of HK$0.01 each, representing
approximately 9.89% of the total issued shares of the Company at the
date of this Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate and
long-term goals. The management will continue to develop efficient
communication platform to enhance relationships with individual and
corporate customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS

Employees of the Group are selected, remunerated and promoted on the
basis of their merit, qualifications, competence and contribution to the
Group. The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as a
long-term incentive scheme of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors’ remunerations, bonuses
and other compensation are determined by the remuneration committee
with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and the Group's
performance and results.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Details of the retirement benefit plans of the Group are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company is well aware of the importance of energy conservation and
low carbon development so that it has implemented various measures
to protect environment, like focusing on some key areas’ energy
conservation, carrying out circular economy and raising employees’
awareness of emission reduction. The Group is committed to integrating
the concept of low carbon development into every aspect of work for the
purpose of protecting environment as well as making contributions to
the society. The Company has been closely following the development
of international environmental laws for the purpose of ensuring the
successful implementation of Company’s environmental policies under
international standards as well as industrial standards.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details on the Company's corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established with written
terms of reference which are in line with the CG Code (as defined in the
Corporate Governance Report) and comprises four independent non-
executive Directors as at 31 December 2019.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
company and the external auditor the Group’s annual results for the
Year, and was of the opinion that the preparation of such results are in
compliance with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations
and that adequate disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by members of the public as at the date of this
report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was appointed as auditor of the
Company on 5 January 2018 following the resignation of ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by Deloitte who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

PAN Haoran
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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Mr. Pan Haoran (“Mr. Pan”), aged 28, has been appointed as an executive Director of the Company, a member of remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Board with effect from 3 September 2019. Mr. Pan has also been appointed as an
executive Director during the period from 1 December 2017 to 4 June 2018. Mr. Pan has been a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company since December 2014 and is mainly responsible for assisting the investment and financing management. Mr. Pan performs
the duties of the chairman of the Board. Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Jinan University (B F A 22) in the
PRC in June 2013 and further obtained a master’s degree in finance and accounting from the University of Sheffield in the United
Kingdom in November 2014.

Mr. Pan is the son of Mr. Pan Weiming, a former executive Director and the chairman of the Board, and Ms. Chen Weihong, a
former executive Director. Mr. Pan is also a nephew of Mr. Pan Jungang, a former executive Director, and also a nephew of Ms. Wu
Jihong, a former executive Director, respectively.
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Mr. Tong Wentao (“Mr. Tong"”), aged 53, was appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive Director of the Company
on 20 September 2018. Mr. Tong is currently a member of the nomination committee of the Board. Mr. Tong has worked for China
Construction Bank (the “Bank”), one of the “China’s four largest banks”, in the PRC for over 20 years. He has held senior management
positions and acted as general manager in various departments of Fujian Branch of the Bank, and acted as head of sub-branches
of the Bank in Fujian Province and vice general manager of the credit department and the asset management department of
the headquarter of the Bank. He was appointed as senior economic analyst of the Bank in 2002. Mr. Tong has extensive working
experience and knowledge in bank operations management, industrial finance capital operation, financial risk prevention and

investment banking asset management. Mr. Tong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in education from Fujian Normal University in
Fujian Province in 1989 and obtained a master's degree in economics from Fujian Normal University in Fujian Province in 1995.
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Mr. Li Jinrong (“Mr. Li”), aged 45, has been an executive Director of the Company since 1 December 2017. He has extensive
working experience in engineering management and cost management in real estate industry. Mr. Li has joined the Group
since 2008. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li worked as an assistant to the general manager at Guangzhou Yunxing Real Estate
Development Group Company Ltd.*, a real estate and property developer in the PRC, during 2001 to 2004. Mr. Li joined Fusheng
Group in 2004 and served as vice president during 2007 to 2015.

Mr. Li has been the vice executive president of Guangdong Chamber of Commerce in Fujian since 2010. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s
degree in finance and accounting from Renmin University in the PRC in 1999. Mr. Li also completed the real estate entrepreneurs MBA
course in Sun Yat-sen University in 2009 and completed the course for presidents of real estate development and finance from Peking
University in 2013.

WEREETHAELE]D @ 5358 ARBNTES - BAEERKEER - ¥50E -
(XREMBEEETEREA0FLER PRITERENK  TE  BHEZER B
JE =B iR BRESREEE - HINEMR2010F2818E2013F9 8180 Hi/H
FB20B3FNASARESEZEALRRGINITES - BEA AL 2014F9H 18 E2017
F12A1BHEAERRRITEHEH,

B BIA2005F6 A 21980 F 12 HEREH ST AE TEHE BB T E2M NEE
FXARETHEESLEN - FAEESHMALTEFSE XREECHIIHBESS
8 BEEBERKREEBEeg8UNEAMETHRMEZ2e L BEE

o

Mr. Tang Kwok Hung (“Mr. Tang”), aged 53, is an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Tang has over 20 years of experience
in the strategic management, business development, corporate finance, and investment management in garment, retail, real estate
development, hotel, high-tech business, logistics, international trade and manufacturing industries. He has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company for the period from 1 February 2010 to 18 September 2013 and from 5 November 2013 to the
present. Mr. Tang was the chief executive officer of the Company for the period from 18 September 2014 to 1 December 2017.

Mr. Tang obtained a Master's degree in Business Administration from the University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in June
2005 and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1989. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Institute of Management Accountants in the
United States of America, a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, and an ordinary member of Hong Kong
Institute of Real Estate Administrators.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.P. (“Dr. Cheung”), aged 83, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company, a
member of audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Board with effect from 14 December 2017. He has
appropriate professional accounting or related financial management
expertise. He is an independent non-executive director of Pioneer Global
Group Limited (stock code: 224), an independent non-executive director
of Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026), a non-
executive director of Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited (stock code:
27), an independent non-executive director of Jiayuan International
Group Limited (stock code: 2768), and an independent non-executive
Director of Modern Dental Group Limited (stock code: 3600), which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Yin He Holdings Limited (stock code: 8260),
which is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of Stock Exchange.

He was an executive Director and chairman of the board of directors of
Roma Group Limited (stock code: 8072) from 2 June 2017 to 18 December
2017. He was an independent non-executive director of China Financial
International Investments Limited (stock code: 721) from 1 March 2001 to
24 September 2018 and an independent non-executive director of China
Taifeng Beddings Holdings Limited (stock code: 873) from 20 April 2017 to
31 July 2018.

Dr. Cheung obtained an honorary doctorate degree in business
administration from John Dewey University in the United States in 1984,
a master's degree in business administration and a bachelor of science
degree in accounts and finance from New York University in the United
States in 1962 and 1960 respectively.

Dr. Cheung is currently a non-executive director of the board and the vice
chairman of executive committee of Metropolitan Bank (China) Ltd., and
he was formerly an independent non-executive director and the director
general of the audit committee of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.
Ltd. Dr. Cheung is a member of the Hospital Governing Committee of
Hong Kong Eye Hospital and Kowloon Hospital and a member of the
Regional Advisory Committee of Kowloon of the Hospital Authority. Dr.
Cheung is a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and
is also the special advisor to the president of the University of Victoria in
Canada.
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Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon, (“Dr. Tse”), aged 55, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company, chairman
of both remuneration committee and nomination committee, and a
member of audit committee of the Board with effect from 15 August
2018. Mr. Tse is a partner at a law firm in Hong Kong providing corporate
and commercial legal services and has over 20 years of experience in
corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions, private equity, joint ventures
and compliance matters. Dr. Tse is qualified to practise law in Hong Kong,
England and Wales and the PRC. He graduated with a bachelor's degree in
law from Zhongshan University in Guangzhou in 1986. Dr. Tse obtained a
master's degree in law and a doctorate degree in law from the University
of London, the United Kingdom in 1989 and 1993 respectively. He is
a China appointed attesting officer, and a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute. He is also a member of the China Political Consultative
Committee of Giuzhou Province.

Mr. Yang Xiaoping (“Mr. Yang”), aged 66, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, a member of
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
of the Board with effect from 1 December 2017. Mr. Yang has extensive
experience in property and construction industry. During the period from
2007 to 2015, Mr. Yang worked as a vice president at ETON Properties
Group, a property company principally engaged in development
of hotels and commercial buildings in Dalian and Xiamen, the PRC,
where Mr. Yang was responsible for the management of the project
development, including management of engineering design, cost control
and marketing. From 1994 to 2007, he worked as senior management of
Hopson Development Holdings Limited (a PRC property developer listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 754), Tianjin subsidiary Tianjin
Hopson Zhujiang Real Estate Development Limited, and China Overseas
Property Group Co,, Ltd, a leading state-owned property developer in the
PRC. Mr. Yang was in charge of design, project management, engineering
management, cost control and marketing of property projects. From 1969
to 1994, Mr. Yang worked at the Second Construction Co., Ltd. of China
Construction First Group, during the period from 1978 to 1994, he worked
as the head of the production control division and was responsible for
management of construction.

Mr. Yang graduated from East China University of Science and
Technology (formerly known as Shanghai Institute of Chemical
Engineering) in 1978 majoring in Chemical Engineering. Mr. Yang
attained the qualification of senior engineer accredited by China State
Construction Engineering Corporation in 1994.
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Mr. Yuen Chee Lap, Carl (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 46, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company, chairman of
audit committee, a member of remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Board with effect from 1 December 2017. Mr. Yuen
obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and a Master of
Business Administration degree from University of Houston, United States
in 1997 and 1998 respectively. Mr. Yuen is currently the chief executive
officer and the financial controller of Courage Investment Group Limited
(stock code: 1145), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the
“SGX-ST"). Mr. Yuen has rich experience in finance and accounting both
in Hong Kong and the United States. Mr. Yuen commenced his career in
the United States and served as chief accountant and managerial position
in several companies between 1998 and 2003. Mr. Yuen joined Courage
Investment Group Limited in 2004 and has been appointed as financial
controller since May 2006. Mr. Yuen has taken up the additional role as
chief executive officer since September 2019. Mr. Yuen is responsible
for the company’s overall operations, and is in charge of the company’s
finance and accounting control, as well as the company'’s reporting, SGX-
ST and the Stock Exchange compliance. Mr. Yuen is currently a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Association of Hong
Kong Accountants. Mr. Yuen is an independent non-executive director of
Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (stock code: 911), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Ming Kei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 37 has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with
effect from 15 January 2018. Mr. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has extensive experiences
in accounting, audit, financial management and company secretarial
works. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) majoring in
Accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
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The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard
of corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of
its businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders, and the Board
is fully committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for
the Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high
standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has complied with the code provisions set out in Appendix
14 (the “CG Code") to the Listing Rules throughout the Year and, where
appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiries made by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversee the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The directors take decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. Some functions including, inter alia, monitor and
approval of material transactions, matters involving conflict of interest
for a substantial shareholder or director(s) of the Company, the approval
of the interim and annual results, other disclosures to the public or
regulators and the internal control system are reserved by the Board and
the decisions relating to such matters shall be subject to the decision of
the Board. Matters not specifically reserved to the Board and necessary for
the daily operations of the Company are delegated to the management
under the supervision of the respective Directors.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises four executive
Directors, namely Mr. Pan Haoran, Mr. Tong Wentao (Chief Executive
Officer), Mr. Li Jinrong and Mr. Tang Kwok Hung and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.P., Dr.
Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon, Mr. Yang Xiaoping and Mr. Yuen Chee Lap, Carl.
Mr. Pan Jungang, Ms. Wu Jihong and Mr. Wu Yang have been executive
Directors during the Year and resigned on 12 March 2020.

The biographies of the current Directors and their relationship, if any, are
set out in“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 33 to 37 of this Annual Report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review
and approve the Company’s interim and annual results. All Directors
are given the opportunity to put items on the agenda for regular Board
meetings, and have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that all
Board procedures and rules and regulations are followed. Full minutes of
Board meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for
inspection on reasonable notice. During the Year, 7 Board meetings were
held and the attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set out
in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.

Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take independent
professional advice where necessary at the expense of the Company. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the liabilities
of the Directors that may arise out the corporate activities, which has
been complied with the CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on
an annual basis.

In accordance with Bye-law 83, a director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re- election.

According to Bye-law 84, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-law 83, the shareholders of the Company may by
an ordinary resolution remove a director (but without prejudice to any
claim for damages under any such agreement) before the expiration of
his period of office, and may by an ordinary resolution appoint another
person in his stead.

Save and except as disclosed in the “Biographical details of Directors
and Senior Management”, there are family relationship among Mr. Pan
Haoran, Mr. Pan Weiming, Ms. Chen Weihong, Mr. Pan Jungang and Ms.
Wu Jihong, there is no relationship among other members of the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Group
are clearly defined and segregated to ensure independence and proper
checks and balances. The chairman focuses on the business strategy and
direction of the Company and has executive responsibilities, provides
leadership for the Board and ensures proper and effective functioning
of the Board in discharging of its responsibilities. The chief executive
officer is accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of
the Company's strategies and the co-ordination of overall business
operations.

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Company does not have any officer carrying the title
of “Chairman” since the resignation of Mr. Pan Weiming, the ex-chairman
of the Company, on 7 September 2019. Mr. Pan Haoran, an executive
Director, performs the duties as chairman during the Year under review.
Mr. Tong Wentao has been appointed as the chief executive officer
since 20 September 2018. In the opinion of the Directors, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer was properly segregated.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received confirmation of independence from each of
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheung Wai Bun,
Charles J.P,, Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon, Mr. Yang Xiaoping and Mr. Yuen
Chee Lap, Carl, in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has also reviewed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors and concluded that all of them are independent
within the definition of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not
aware of the occurrence of any events which would cause it to believe
that the independence of any of the independent non-executive
Directors has been impaired up to the date of this report.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED



ESEABRSEERRE

REEHEER  ISTEFHPRIIABER - &
BEIREARANERLE BRREEFARES
EEN—R AEMEERT  UBEREEHE
RERNEMRAREMBREERE THEE -

EERHERBERERER - RAUERNE
RIS ER o WO AATSEEZRER
MR - BAERREHIREXEAERE AT
FABEASXERRIELMTE  UEREAHE
RITEMEBMNE NG - BRAARRAE (i
BEA) - B ARBERZBESRHMEMN
B BREEUNEERENRENERAH -

FR 2RBEFCAARARHEEFIIRE - F
N EF2EEAEEFTENRNEE EF
BB K, BB UL A EEEBO R EE R
R BEMEEMLIMAR  —REBUEFH
BUAREMARREEIMH R R ERTE
K,/ B -

ETEMESTILBER

AEBEERAEFTERESZTEBRR([EFEK
BZTEBR]) - fIEEHEFTEXEZ T
MERBE TET - RABREAIEBEREFTSK
BZTUEBREHS TILEE - EFEKEZ T
AR Z T G % - BRERRMMER - F
B UERHBEESR Bk BELR - e
MM RGFH - BROBEREFTEXNEZ T
MEIHE - REBEEFBERE - NERERA
REFSRENERMIERE -EFSREEER
g([RREZEE K TPRIBEFEKRESZ T
BERARREITZ B °

EEARE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives an induction
package covering business operations, policy and procedures of the
Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive amendments to
or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition,
the Company encourages the Directors to enrol in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and corporate governance
practices so that they can continuously improve their relevant knowledge
and skills at the expenses of the Company where applicable. The
Company has also provided reading materials to all Directors to develop
and refresh their professional knowledge.

All Directors have provided the Company their training records for
the Year. During the Year, the Directors participated in the continuous
professional developments in relation to regulatory update, the duties
and/or responsibility of the directors and the business of the Group,
including reading relevant Listing Rules, the general business or
responsibilities of the directors and other relevant training materials; and/
or attended seminars and/or lectures.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Group adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to diversify members of the Board. The
Company believes that a diversified perspective can be achieved through
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The diversity of the Board
members should be assessed on a diversity of perspectives including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on objective criteria, merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The nomination
committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”) will review
the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 31 December 2018. Such policy applies to the directors of
the Company and where applicable, senior management prepared for
the Board positions under the succession planning for the Company.
The Board may delegate its authority and duties for matters relating to
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.
Details of the criteria for nomination and appointment of Directors are
disclosed in the Nomination Policy which is uploaded on the Company’s
website. The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
on a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board (the “"Audit Committee”) comprises
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheung Wai Bun,
Charles J.P,, Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon, Mr. Yang Xiaoping and Mr. Yuen
Chee Lap, Carl. Mr. Yuen Chee Lap, Carl is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review the Group's
financial information; (i) oversight of the Group’s financial reporting
system, internal control and risk management system; (iii) make
recommendations in relation to the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor; and (iv) review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity. In addition, the Audit Committee
discusses matters raised by the external auditor and regulatory bodies to
ensure that appropriate recommendations are implemented.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has performed its duties, reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control system and risk management of
the Company and reviewed the appointment of the external auditors.
The Audit Committee has also reviewed with the management of the
Company the interim results of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2019 and also with the external auditor the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019, and was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results was in compliance with the
relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year remuneration committee of the Board (the
“Remuneration Committee”) comprises two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Pan Jungang and Ms. Wu Jihong and four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.P., Dr. Tse Hiu Tung,
Sheldon, Mr. Yang Xiaoping and Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl. Dr. Tse Hiu Tung,
Sheldon is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

With effect from 12 March 2020, Mr. Pan Jungang and Ms. Wu Jihong have
ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. Pan
Haoran was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for remuneration
policy; (ii) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of individual executive directors, non-executive directors and
senior management; and (iii) review and approve compensation payable
to executive directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment. The Remuneration Committee is regulated by
the terms of reference which follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code and shall be modified and approved by the Board from time to time.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has discussed and
reviewed the remuneration policies of the Company, reviewed and made
recommendations with respect to the remuneration of Board members
for approval by the Board and made recommendations with respect to
the remuneration of the newly appointed Director during the Year for
approval by the Board. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
operation model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the
Board retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance, experience, responsibility, workload and time devoted to
the Company and comparable market statistics, for Board approval. Each
of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary which is reviewed
annually. In addition, each of the executive Directors may receive a
discretionary bonus as the Remuneration Committee may recommend.
Such amount has to be approved by the Board.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the Year are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Pan Jungang and Mr. Tong Wentao, and four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheung Wai Bun,
Charles J.P., Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon, Mr. Yang Xiaoping and Mr.
Yuen Chee Lap, Carl. Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

With effect from 12 March 2020, Mr. Pan Jungang has ceased to be
a member of the Nomination Committee and Mr. Pan Haoran was
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review
the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (iii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors; and (v) develop and maintain a policy for nomination of
Board members. The Nomination Committee is regulated by the terms of
reference which follow closely the requirements of the CG Code and shall
be modified and approved by the Board from time to time.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board, the retirement and re-election of the
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting, considered the
appointment of the new Director and assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the various

meetings of the Company during the Year are set out below:

Annual
general Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EEpg BRREBFAE g ERZEEE FHZEEE REZEE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Pan Haoran® GRS - 4/4 - - -
Mr. Tong Wentao EXREE(TTRER)

(Chief Executive Officer) il 5/7 - - 2/2
Mr. Li Jinrong S /1 7/7 - - -
Mr. Tang Kwok Hung B & 0/1 7/7 - - -
Ms. Chen Weihong? PRIE 4T et 1 1/5 - - -
Mr. Pan Weiming (Chairman)#* EEBELE (L) /1 3/7 - - -
Mr. Pan Jungang " EE /1 6/7 - 1/1 22
Ms. Wu Jihong#* REEHT Ar L 11 7/7 - 0/1 -
Mr. Wu Yang?# RyFfgE /1 7/7 - - -
Independent Non-executive BUHHITEE

Directors
Dr.Cheung WaiBun, Charles JP.  REEL A P4+ 1/1 7/7 22 1/1 22
Dr. Tse Hiu Tung, Sheldon AEREL 0/1 5/7 22 0/1 1/2
Mr. Yang Xiaoping BN E 1/1 7/7 22 1/1 22
Mr. Yuen Chee Lap, Carl REMEE I 7/7 2/2 11 2/2

8 20199 A3 EER(T
' 201959 A3H BHT
o FA2019F9 A7 HEHT
wi FA2020F3 12 B BHT

ESERUBRERNEM

EXNEWEAE RSN BHIMREY R
K NEEMRFHRRARBNEBRR © 4R
HHEMANBHRERE  EFCERTERE
REENEBE  FERELATFEENHE K
et - URIRFER 2 R RBMBEEREK -

R

EEREMRARENSHCRESEL EEL
BEARENPHERR - EMREZESHA
SRMOB BN BHRE LN RBEIBEEREK -

4 appointed on 3 September 2019
# resigned on 3 September 2019
# resigned on 7 September 2019
#t resigned on 12 March 2020

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company. In preparing the financial
statements for the Reporting Period, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial
position of the Group and which enable the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards as promulgated by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statement of the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statement of the Company is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, was appointed
as auditor of the Company following the resignation of ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited on 5 January 2018.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor. The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor, in
respect of audit services and non-audit services, during the Reporting
Period is set out below:

Bt ERER
Frig AR 7% Services rendered Fee paid/payable
AR¥T T
RMB’000
ENZRRTE Audit services 2,538
EMIEEZRE (BIECEmMERBERE Other non-audit services (including corporate
MBERERY - BTG RN e 2 AR financial advisory services, tax advisory
REBESRE) services, risk assessment and internal control
consulting services and due diligence services) 2,203
4,741

P BREE 1R K b i TR

EEEWRHEYEY MEFARERERRREE
MEEEME  BRAXAMGEHE  2&E AR
KREREZRTH  WRERRZENREENE
REEHNRN EFEGCRRARAEEERE
ZERE HEEFSEET  BEEECHUE
BF - ARG R ERAEERMESNER
[\ o
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for establishing
and maintaining the internal controls and risk management which covers
financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such
internal controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the management of the Company. The management,
under the supervision of the Board, has established an on-going process
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the
Group.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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The Board and the Audit Committee review the effectiveness of internal
control system and risk management that are significant to the Group
annually or at any time necessary. The Board and the Audit Committee
also considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as
their training programmes and budgets.

(A) THE PROCESS USED TO IDENTIFY, EVALUATE AND
MANAGE SIGNIFICANT RISKS

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting
Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes are
in place;

Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

Reports the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.

(B) THE MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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AN ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY THE BOARD THAT
ITIS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND
REVIEWING THEIR EFFECTIVENESS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Company
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

THE PROCESS USED TO REVIEW THE
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND TO RESOLVE
MATERIAL INTERNAL CONTROL DEFECTS

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group's business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP as its risk management and internal control
review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of
the risk management and internal control systems for the Year.
Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under
rotation basis. The scope of review was previously determined
and approved by the Board. The Adviser has reported findings and
areas for improvement to the Audit Committee and management.
The Board/Audit Committee are of the view that there are no
material internal control defeats noted. All recommendations from
the Adviser are properly followed up by the Group to ensure that
they are implemented within a reasonable period of time. The
Board therefore considered that the risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate.
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(E) THE PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely
disclosure are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
policy regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information, which includes:

Designated reporting channels from different operations
informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;

Designated persons and departments to determine
further escalation and disclosure as required; and

Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons
and respond to external enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions for the Year under review and
up to the date of issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and
adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Ming Kei has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company with effect from 15 January 2018. He is a full time employee of
the Company and has adequate professional knowledge to discharge his
duty as the Company Secretary. Mr. Chan supported the chairman, the
Board and the Board Committees by ensuring good information flow and
that Board policy and procedures were followed. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters. All Directors may call upon him for advice and assistance at any
time in respect to their duties and the effective operation of the Board
and the Board Committees. During the Year, Mr. Chan has confirmed that
he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

EREREZEREEERAR
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE A
SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING (“SGM”)

Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at the general meetings of the Company shall at all times submit
a signed written requisition, specifying the purpose, to the Board or the
Company Secretary to require the convening of a SGM. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene the SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, themselves may convene a SGM, but any
SGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from twenty-one days of the deposit.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT A GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to the Bye-laws (as amended from time to time), the
shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition
convene a SGM follow the procedures as set out above.

SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRES AND PROPOSALS

Enquiries of shareholders can be sent to the Company either by email at
cs@fullsun.com.hk or by post to the principal office of the Company at
Room 2407, 24/F., World-wide House, 19 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong. Shareholders can also make enquires with the Board directly at the
general meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of
the Group's business. The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meeting and other general meetings.

The website of the Company at http://www.fullsun.com.hk has provided
an effective communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Currently approved Bye-laws by the shareholders is available on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED



Deloitte

HEREBREREEERARAIMIRKRR

B %A RS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=2

To the Members of Fullsun International Holdings Group Co., Limited

(REFZEAMA LA FRAE])

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

=
HMEFEATINE8E194ENRREBRIZERE
EERAR(ERR D REMBLAR(5HEIES
E ) ema M BmEK - ZEFRREBEN2019F12
ANERGaMBRAREBEZR IEFENER
AREELEMEEERER  GaEREBRIE
BHEMNEBRNNGEMBHRRMTE - BFEEIE
SATBRELE -

BMRE KAV BEHRRERBEEESHMAE
(IEASFTEAE])RIMEE S I HHRE LR
([BEMBREENDAEEATHRE S5E
R2019F 12 A31 BMERE M BAKR RE =% H Lk
FEMGAEVBERALGEESRE - WEER
BECREHEOD M BRHREL BRH -

RRE®R

BARBEE LM SEMOETEETLER
([FBFETER ) EITE - ERFERT
BANEEERMNBREAN [EZBEARBA RS
MBBRAAENEE] - —TEM - RIE
BREGEAEH [BXRGTEERTAI( T
A1) HFPBYR BEEE - WO EFETRIET
HAiERAME - TFIEE - RAIAESETRERE
RRLEE RBEMNEATRIRHER -

BAEE T EH
RERMOSLHE - BREFFEARME
RABBNGARBREFREZOEHE - 7
ERSRAMBRREAU AT RBAR LS
FH MIRRUSEEEBERER -

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fullsun
International Holdings Group Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58
to 194, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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BARETSEER

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BEMREAROMEERRESNER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERYFHEHRA

Revenue recognised from sales of properties

HRERYEHEN A FEBEREME
HRmAMEBHEEEAN  RMEEEERH
REFTEE -

We identified revenue recognised from sales
of properties as a key audit matter as it is
quantitatively significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

EREREE2019F12A3BIEFEAMER
ENRANBARK 1 52388 16 EXE
B A95.4% » BERFE M IEMKRMToMWEE -
WMANERE B TE MR ML 4P IRER - MEHEN
WARBE %R TR AIEGIEER Z % SRR
R RFIREERIMELHER BE
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The Group's revenue from sales of properties for
the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB1,523 million, which is disclosed
in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements,
representing 95.4% of the Group's total revenue.
As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, revenue from sales of properties is
recognised when control of completed property is
transferred to the customer, being at the point that
the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

B Pzt A R R Y X i E WA Z FF 8245
Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from sales of properties
included:

TEIWE BSEEREERIVEREHREEREEFRIENA
EREC IR R A R EE TE HER ) SR SH S BV W A BB B

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control over the process of transferring the control of
completed properties to the customers and determining the point of
time at which revenue from sales of properties is recognised;

BHEEERESEEGEMEGIUATHREFEGSERIMEN
PERIRE &

Inspecting, on a sample basis, the terms set out in the sale and purchase
agreements to understand the point that the customers obtain the
control of the completed properties; and

RHEGEEETHERIVENEFESTERBEEEHZNK
FoRBETREATIZERTETEFPHRIMBAEBRERF -
Evaluating whether the control of completed properties have been
transferred to the customers by checking, on a sample basis, to the terms
of the sale and purchase agreements, the relevant completion certificate
for construction work and the delivery notice sent to the customers.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED

5 2 ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRREAROMEERRENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

E LA

Valuation of inventory of properties
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We identified the valuation of inventory of
properties, which includes properties under
development for sale (the “PUD") and completed
properties held for sale (the “PFS”) (collectively
referred to as the “Properties”) as a key audit matter
as it is quantitatively significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined
with significant estimates are involved in the
determination of the net realisable value (the “NRV")
of the Properties.
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The Group’s PUD of approximately RMB7,379
million and PFS of approximately RMB1,801 million
are situated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") and in Hong Kong as at 31 December
2019 as disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements which in aggregate represent
66.0% of the Group's total assets. As set out in note
5 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group determined the NRV
of the PUD with reference to the current market
price of properties of a comparable standard and
location and construction costs to be incurred
to complete the development based on existing
asset structure and construction material price lists.
The management determined the NRV of the PFS
with reference to the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

BMSMEFERENEF B

Our procedures in relation to valuation of inventory of properties included:

TREBRENATKREEERDYEMEERENRIARTEZ
EWMENAIRE FENIEF

Obtaining an understanding on the management’s process of
estimating the construction costs to be incurred to complete the
development of the PUD and estimating the NRV of the Properties;

RHREE BB BEEKATES BHOERERTNE RN
N BEEERBALUERIVENBRFENLR  WRBHMERLR
EEERRAMSHEBIELNAR - SHETKERFYENGET
ARG &

Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated cost to completion of
the PUD, on a sample basis, by comparing the budgeted construction
costs, to the signed contracts with subcontractors, and actual
development cost of similar completed properties of the Group and
comparing the adjustments made by the management, on a sample
basis, to current market data; and

RAEEE BB RZSFYEMATEEEBRBEAHTLEY
EAHTISER  REHME SEEXBAPELRFERM
ETENTE®R  FEZSEVREFTEENSEE -

Assessing the appropriateness of estimated selling price of the
Properties, on a sample basis, by comparing it to the recent market prices
achieved in the same project or comparable properties, based on our
knowledge of the Group’s business and the PRC and Hong Kong real
estate industry.
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BARETSEER

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BEMREAROMEERRESNER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REYRG1EE

Valuation of investment properties
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We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter as it is
quantitatively significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the
significant estimates associated with determining
the fair value. As disclosed in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements, the investment
properties of the Group mainly represent
commercial properties and office units located in
the PRC and, office units, car parking spaces and
signboards areas located in the Hong Kong and
are carried at RMB2,222 million as at 31 December
2019, which represents 16.0% of the Group's total
assets.
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All of the Group's investment properties are stated
at fair value based on valuations performed by
independent qualified professional valuers (the
"Valuers”). The valuation of investment properties
are dependent on certain key inputs that involve
the management’s and the Valuers' judgments,
including the capitalised rental incomes derived
from the existing tenancies with due provision for
any reversionary income potential of the property
interests and market observable transactions of
similar properties. The key inputs in valuating the
investment properties are term yield, reversionary
yield, market rent of comparable properties
and market observable transactions of similar
properties. Details of the valuation techniques and
key inputs used in the valuations are disclosed in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BMBERRENEGHENREFERE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties included:

AHEEER B BER - e RFEIME - I T AREEMN TIESE
Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and objectivity of the Valuers
and obtaining an understanding of the Valuers' scope of work;

MEER TREERN - WETISRE  RNEEREAERR
BEETEHABEHNEIE &

Obtaining an understanding from Valuers about the valuation
techniques, the performance of the property markets, significant
assumption adopted, key inputs and data used in the valuation; and

ERNABOMSBBEAMBFPERTELTENYEITEN T #
AEARKREMEREENEREABBNSIEL - THEFHK
BmE - ERENESEX  JERBRYENTSES REMBAYERL
ENTSEABERS °

Evaluating the reasonableness of the key inputs used in the valuation
of investment properties, in particular the term yield, reversionary
yield, market rent of comparable properties and market observable
transactions for valuation with other similar properties based on
available market data and our knowledge of the property industry in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

FULLSUN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner